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What were those tens of thousands of people doing when they died? I wondered. . . . I did a lifetime of wondering in that fragment of a moment when we waited for the blast. And I’ve wondered ever since.


—Abe Spitzer, B-29 radio operator, on Hiroshima and Nagasaki missions1
















PART ONE


“HIROSHIMA . . . IT’S ALL GONE”















THE BOMBER







Fifty kilometers south-southeast of Iwo Jima


Dawn, August 6, 1945





AS THE REST of human civilization enjoyed the last few hours of its prenuclear innocence, a B-29 bomber named Enola Gay flew low and alone over a desolate stretch of the Pacific.


Even though the sun had just barely cleared the eastern horizon, the plane’s pilot, thirty-year-old Colonel Paul Tibbets, had already had a very long day.


Some six hours earlier and twelve hundred kilometers to the south-southeast, Enola Gay had been parked on the tarmac at North Field, its Tinian Island base in the Marianas. Protected by a cordon of military policemen, the plane was illuminated by klieg lights, looking, in the words of its nineteen-year-old radio operator Richard Nelson, “just like the opening of a supermarket back home.”1 Swirling before this cordon was an excited commotion of Brownian motion that was a cross between a Howard Hughes Hollywood premiere and the Lindbergh landing at Le Bourget. The crowd pressing in on the plane consisted of well-wishers and gawkers of all ranks, including generals and admirals too numerous to count and a smattering of civilians one could have gotten arrested for asking the wrong questions.2 Even though the main event that all had gathered to see was still a couple of hours away, it seemed that everyone who was anyone in the Southwest Pacific Theater was already here. They had come to see off Enola Gay, its crew, and, if they were lucky enough to catch a glimpse of it, the top secret wonder weapon carried in the plane’s bomb bay. According to rumor, it was supposed to shorten the war by months, if not end it virtually overnight.3


Among the select civilians in this throng who knew exactly what Enola Gay was carrying was a small, rumpled little man in a war correspondent’s khaki uniform. This was William L. Laurence, a science correspondent for the New York Times and an early public cheerleader for the then new field of nuclear physics. But the professional credential that allowed him to be the only civilian journalist with security clearance to be on Tinian was his moonlighting occupation as a War Department PR man.


Laurence had witnessed the first test-firing of America’s stupendously powerful, potentially war-ending new bomb in New Mexico three weeks earlier. As such, he was fully aware of—if not positively thrilled by—the historical significance of what he was witnessing there on North Field. However, he was also somewhat crestfallen. He had originally been cleared to fly as an observer on one of the B-29s in Colonel Tibbets’ strike force, but a last-minute security-clearance snafu had bumped him from the Army transport flight out of California that was to be the first leg of his journey to Tinian. Nevertheless, Laurence was by nature a driven man.4 If a second combat mission for the new wonder weapon were to prove necessary, he would be sure to find a spot on one of the planes next time.


In a ready room a short truck ride away, the crew members of Enola Gay and six other B-29 bombers were wrapping up their final briefing from Tibbets. In addition to being the Enola Gay’s pilot for the mission, the stocky, granite-jawed colonel was probably the Army Air Forces’ top expert on the B-29, having been one of its original test pilots when Boeing was working the design kinks out of the aircraft. He was also the commanding officer of the 509th Composite Group—the specialist unit to which everyone in that briefing room and another eight hundred or so pilots, bombardiers, navigators, enlisted clerks, mechanics, and airmen on Tinian belonged. The 509th had been training in the tactics and deployment of their top secret weapon at a secluded base in the Utah desert for nearly a year before shipping out to Tinian the previous June. Today they would be using that weapon in combat for the first time.


At the end of the briefing, the assemblage stood with heads bowed and hands clasped in a special prayer for the occasion written and led by Captain William Downey, a young Lutheran minister from Minnesota presently serving as the 509th’s chaplain.


“Almighty Father,” Downey began, “Who wilt hear the prayer of them that love Thee, we pray Thee to be with those who brave the heights of Thy heaven and who carry the battle to our enemies.”


Downey continued: “Guard and protect them, we pray Thee, as they fly their appointed rounds. May they, as well as we, know Thy strength and power, and armed with Thy might may they bring this war to a rapid end. We pray Thee that the end of the war may come soon, and that once more we may know peace on earth. May the men who fly this night be kept safe in Thy care, and may they be returned safely to us. We shall go forward trusting in Thee, knowing that we are in Thy care now and forever. In the name of Jesus Christ. Amen.”5


With an echoed “Amen,” the crews filed off to the 509th’s mess hall, affectionately dubbed the “Dogpatch Inn” after the fictional Appalachian setting of the comic strip Li’l Abner. Although North Field was home to more than three hundred B-29s of the Twentieth Air Force, the 509th got special treatment and priority in all matters, from regularly replaced engines and extra-mile maintenance attention to (relatively speaking) sumptuous quarters and chow. To wit, for their preflight meal that night, their mess sergeant, Elliott Easterly, had put up paper decorations on the walls, prepared a spread of American comfort food, and made mimeographed menu cards keeping with the Dogpatch Inn’s hokey “hillbilly” theme. While Tibbets tanked up on black coffee, tablemates tucked into “Sas’sage . . . We think it’s pork,” “Apple butter . . . Looks like axle grease,” and other delicacies.6 As with practically everything else on the island aside from the airplanes and their crews, these items had been shipped across the Pacific by the Twentieth Air Force’s proprietary (for all intents and purposes) Merchant Marine fleet, tucked between the tens of thousands of tons of incendiary bombs and dozens of Olympic-sized swimming pools’ worth of aviation fuel Major General Curtis E. LeMay’s B-29s burned through every month raining hellfire on Japanese cities every night.
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As Tibbets was getting up to leave the mess hall, he was pulled aside and quietly handed a small pillbox by the 509th’s flight surgeon, Captain Donald A. Young. The pillbox contained twelve cyanide capsules—one for Tibbets and one each for the other eleven men who would be flying with him today.7


After being trucked to the personal equipment supply hut at the airfield, the crews were issued the rest of their gear for the mission: parachutes; “flak suits” for protection against antiaircraft shrapnel; survival and flotation gear; and .45-caliber sidearm pistols and ammunition, among other items.8 It was at this point that Tibbets broached the subject of the cyanide capsules with the eight other members of his flight crew and the three special passengers for the day’s mission. The latter were present at the behest of “Project Alberta,” the code-named team of Tinian-based representatives of the Manhattan Project, the top secret Army Corps of Engineers program that had just spent nearly two billion dollars developing and producing four atomic bombs for America’s wartime arsenal. One of those bombs—the one-off design its builders and minders had come to refer to as “Little Boy”—had been loaded into the bomb bay of Enola Gay earlier that evening.


The only person to take up Tibbets’ cyanide-capsule offer was one of the Project Alberta passengers, Captain William Parsons. The lanky, balding Navy officer was a top-secret-clearance ordnance weapons specialist who knew the inner workings and mysteries of Little Boy as intricately and thoroughly as Tibbets knew the cockpit instruments and flight characteristics of a B-29.9 It would not do for the Japanese to capture him alive, and the same went for Tibbets, who prudently stowed the pillbox in a pocket of his flight suit. Out of everyone who would be aboard the Enola Gay today, only Parsons and Tibbets had enough knowledge about atomic bomb technology and American plans for its use to reveal vital information about those ultra-top-secret topics in the unlikely—but still possible—event of their capture and interrogation (assuming an enraged mob of Japanese civilians did not beat them to death first—this was a real and ever-present danger for any Allied airman shot down over Japanese territory). In consideration of this risk, upon the 509th’s posting to the Pacific earlier that summer, Tibbets had been grounded from flying over Japanese-controlled territory or waters for the specific purpose of avoiding just such a catastrophic security breach. This meant that he had not participated in any of the recon missions and practice bombing runs over Japan that the other B-29 pilots and crews of the 509th had been flying for the past month.10 Today’s flight to (and hopefully back from) Japan would be his first.


Conversely, the fact that none of the other crew members had taken up the cyanide offer was not necessarily problematic. Since there was no “need to know” about the Manhattan Project on their part in order to perform their individual tasks on the plane, none of them even knew yet that the special weapon they would be deploying today was an “atomic” bomb.11 And anyone who had just spent nearly a year, as they had, in the draconian security environment at the 509th’s training base in Utah and now on Tinian had long since learned never to engage in rumormongering or imprudent inquiry of any kind related to the unit’s ultimate mission or decision-making above their pay grade and specific job assignment. As far as they were concerned, the only things they knew about “the gadget” or “the gizmo”—as they were wont to hear it referred to in briefings—were that it was top secret, that it was very expensive, and that it was going to make a very large explosion with a lot of fire that was going to kill a very large number of people.


At a briefing two days before the mission, Captain Parsons had talked to the assembled crews to give them some idea of what to expect—and what some Japanese city had in store for it—when “the gadget” exploded: “The bomb you are going to drop . . . is something new in the history of warfare. It will be the most destructive weapon ever devised. . . . We think it will wipe out almost everything within a three-mile area. . . . One bomb . . . one single solitary bomb will do all that. And maybe more.”12


The math could not have been simpler, nor the consequences more stark: one plane, one bomb, one city gone.


If any of the crewmen harbored personal doubts about participating in such bloodletting, they could convince themselves that today’s mission would not really be that different in terms of civilian casualties from one of Curtis LeMay’s incendiary raids being flown out of North Field or his other Mariana Islands airfields on Tinian, Guam, and Saipan. As far as they were concerned, the most significant difference about the death and destruction they would be unleashing was that it would be accomplished risking only one plane and a crew of eleven instead of the typical mass formations of hundreds of bombers with thousands of men flying into harm’s way. To the young men who had to face the enemy flak and fighters, destroying a Japanese city by putting only 1 percent of the usual number of American lives at risk to accomplish the same objective would have sounded like a bargain. From the perspective of their limited knowledge of the bomb that they would be using on the mission, this was not necessarily an unreasonable leap of moral logic. Nor were they alone in this respect.


In August 1945, not even the planners at the Manhattan Project and the decision-makers at the Pentagon and the White House had really given much thought about what Little Boy and its rotund atomic sibling, Fat Man, were going to do to human bodies beyond the usual effects one would normally expect to be involved when incinerating wooden Japanese cities. And as for making any moral distinction between “military” and “civilian” when planning attacks on Japanese targets, American air strategists had long since let that consideration—if it had ever really existed to begin with—fall by the wayside over four years of brutal fighting against enemies who seemed to resist more savagely, desperately, and stubbornly the closer they staggered toward defeat.


For the men in Washington privileged with a better grasp of the big picture, the frustration and desire to just get the war over with already would have been as palpable as those of the men in that Tinian Quonset hut listening to Captain Parsons describe Armageddon: Why didn’t the Japanese just give up already and stop the bloodshed—and do so before the Soviets had time to join the fight against their country and do to half of Japan what they were doing to half of Germany?


Perhaps, the thinking went, Little Boy and his brothers would bring the Japanese to their senses.
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Once on the tarmac at North Field, the crews of the other six B-29s participating in the day’s mission headed off to their planes to attend to their final preflight checks and other preparations for takeoff. While all of this runway activity was happening behind them, Tibbets and his crew were kept standing in front of Enola Gay, where they squinted under klieg lights and were ushered this way and that to pose singly and in groups for cameras. As flashbulbs popped, the men fielded interview softballs from Twentieth Air Force PR types.


The first mission planes to depart were three weather reconnaissance B-29s. Nearly an hour ahead of Enola Gay’s scheduled departure, they took off from North Field, headed for the Japanese Home Islands. Once there, they would report back on weather and visibility conditions over three separate target option areas: The B-29 named Straight Flush would be headed for the mission’s primary target, Hiroshima; Jabit III and Full House would be headed for the secondary and tertiary targets at Kokura and Nagasaki, respectively.13


The fourth B-29 to leave the field was an emergency standby replacement “strike plane” headed for Iwo Jima. Cheekily named Top Secret, it was equipped and crewed to deploy Little Boy in Enola Gay’s stead, for example, in the event of some major mechanical malfunction or the sudden disability of a key crew member.


As was well known to the American authorities on Tinian in August 1945, there were still Japanese survivors of the battle for the island a year earlier who were holed up in the heavily wooded hills and jungles around North Field. If any of these holdouts had been watching the buzz of activity currently underway at the airfield, it would not take a military intelligence genius among their number to figure out that something very significant was afoot tonight. And if any of these lurking observers had access to a radio transmitter, Tibbets’ strike force could be in for a surprise welcome party upon its arrival over the Japanese Home Islands.14


Regardless of this potential security risk—if it was even recognized as such by the Americans—the festivities continued unabated and spectacularly illuminated until finally, at 0220 hours, the no-nonsense Tibbets had had enough. After he shouted, “Let’s get to work,” he and the other crew members and passengers climbed up into their bomber and prepared for takeoff.


Seven minutes later, Enola Gay’s four engines coughed to life. To the applause of the gathered crowd and the whir and clicks of cameras, the plane slowly taxied out to its takeoff position 1.5 kilometers away, on the southwest end of North Field runway “Able.”15


At 0245, on a signal from the North Field control tower, Tibbets redlined the engine throttles and released the brakes, and the overloaded Enola Gay rolled down the runway and off into the night.


Leaving behind all the klieg lights, cameras, and crowds on Tinian, Enola Gay returned, at least temporarily, to tense top secret anonymity. Along its route tonight, a rescue patrol line of Navy ships, submarines, and flying boats stretched from Tinian practically right up to the coastline of Japan itself. This knowledge provided some comfort to the crew as the B-29 flew low and alone over a vast and featureless Pacific Ocean.


While the plane might have appeared tiny and vulnerable on the scale of the western Pacific, up close—at human scale—it was a gleaming winged beast of menace and majesty. The cheering crowds Enola Gay had left behind on Tinian three hours earlier could have attested to as much, as could millions of residents of all the Japanese cities and towns that had been napalmed to ashes over the past half year by LeMay’s armadas of bombers like this one. For the latter group, a low-flying B-29 appearing overhead at incendiary-dropping altitude—scudding across the sky with its silvery skin, roaring engines, and high-keening turbochargers—was an apparition to inspire awe, horror, and loathing in equal parts.









STANDING BY







Strike force assembly point


Three thousand meters above Iwo Jima


0600 hours Tinian (0500 Japan)





SO FAR EVERYTHING was clicking like clockwork, and the mission was proceeding flawlessly. At its present position and heading, Enola Gay was ten minutes from the morning’s rendezvous point over Mount Suribachi on the southern tip of Iwo Jima—a terrain feature made famous by the iconic photo of American Marines raising the Stars and Stripes on its summit during the battle for the island some five months previously.


Upon arriving on station over Suribachi at 0600, Tibbets banked Enola Gay to the left to begin a counterclockwise orbit of the area. He would maintain this “holding pattern” until joined by the other two B-29s in the strike force following up several minutes behind.


One of these planes, named the Great Artiste, carried telemetry instruments—“radiosondes” is the technical term—that would be parachuted over the target area to measure and provide data on the blast effects of the weapon Enola Gay would be dropping on a Japanese city a few hours from now.1


The yet unnamed third plane, code-numbered “Dimples 91” for the mission, was carrying photographic and motion picture equipment. This would record the event: for later analysis; for historical posterity; and for convincing postwar politicians that the taxpaying American public had gotten its money’s worth from the Manhattan Project.


Enola Gay had barely made one circuit around Mount Suribachi when the Great Artiste showed up, precisely on schedule, followed momentarily by Dimples 91.2


With the linkup over Suribachi successfully completed, the strike force resumed its northward heading, bound for one of three possible target cities clustered on the far western edge of the Japanese Home Islands.


Hiroshima was a key rail depot and military port on Japan’s Seto Inland Sea, and the site of the Army headquarters where the defense of the entire western half of Japan would be coordinated once the anticipated Allied invasion of the Home Islands began later that autumn (assuming the atomic bombs were insufficiently convincing in conveying their message that further Japanese resistance was futile).


Kokura, on the far northern tip of the island of Kyushu, was the site of the Imperial Japanese Army’s most important arsenal.


Nagasaki was a deepwater port on the East China Sea with historically and culturally significant connections to both China and the West. Related to that latter historical and cultural connection, it was home to the largest concentration of Roman Catholics in the Japanese archipelago. In its present incarnation, it was also home to the Mitsubishi shipyard that had produced the Musashi—sister ship to the legendary Japanese super battleship Yamato—and two major naval ordnance plants also owned by Mitsubishi.


It was no coincidence that all three of these potential targets for the first use of the atomic bomb were located far from Tokyo—at least six hundred seventy kilometers away for Hiroshima and nearly a thousand for Nagasaki. In one sense, this distance was merely the result of a process of elimination. By this point in the war, there was very little standing aboveground in terms of built-up urban concentrations virtually anywhere else in the country that merited targeting with one of the Americans’ still scarce (and astronomically expensive) atomic bombs.3


Even emphasized with a stupendous explosion and a spectacular mushroom cloud, the political and morale shock value of merely rearranging the rubble in already ruined cities (or performing a demonstration shot off the coast of Japan, as some Manhattan Project scientists had suggested) would have been negligible, as would the return-on-investment ratio in terms of gleaning useful data when it was time for technicians and planners in the Pentagon to analyze and quantify the capabilities and effects of their new weapon technology.4 But far from the flattened urban ash heaps at the center of the country, there were yet relatively untouched, nearly fully populated cities on its western periphery whose destruction would have been far more convincing, it was surmised, toward moving the hearts of Japanese leaders who otherwise seemed hell-bent on fighting to the bitter end. Accordingly, once these cities had been placed on the preliminary atomic target list by the joint White House / Manhattan Project / Pentagon “Target Committee” the previous April, they had been placed off-limits to LeMay’s Marianas-based incendiary campaign against Japan’s urban concentrations.5


Moreover, maintaining this distance from Japan’s already almost completely destroyed capital was prudent, as doing so would preserve what was left of Japan’s political nerve center. After all, if Emperor Hirohito and those in his inner circle were killed by the bomb, there would have been no one left alive with the authority to order and enforce the country’s surrender when the time came for such a decision.


This morning, August 6, Straight Flush, Jabit III, and Full House would soon be signaling back their respective reports on weather and visibility conditions over the target cities. If it was determined that conditions over the primary target of Hiroshima were less than optimal, then depending on which of the alternate cities had the better weather and visibility that morning, either Kokura or Nagasaki would end up as Little Boy’s target.


As the strike force formation continued northward and awaited the final weather reports, the crew of Enola Gay performed its duties in shirtsleeve comfort inside the plane’s pressurized, climate-controlled fuselage. Tibbets, as he was wont to do during long flights, had puffed a pipe during much of his time in the cockpit this morning, and he had even delegated some stick time to the plane’s autopilot system during the Tinian-to-Iwo leg of the trip, allowing him and his copilot, Captain Robert Lewis, to get a little shut-eye.


Such imagery aside, it would be a misrepresentation to suggest that Tibbets was “relaxed” this morning, as that is not normally an adjective one would use to describe the mindset of a man sitting on the equivalent of twelve thousand tons of TNT and headed into enemy airspace with a tin of worst-case-scenario cyanide tablets in his flight suit pocket. “Tensely confident” would probably be a better description of the state of his nerves at the moment. As a seasoned combat bomber pilot, Tibbets would have been all too familiar with the nervous tension inevitably involved when flying a large airplane full of gasoline and explosives into a combat zone. But he would have also been experienced enough to know how to prevent those “nerves” from interfering in the performance of his mission. Tibbets harbored little in the way of doubts as to his own ability to lead this crew and fly this airplane competently and skillfully this morning. And if he felt any fear creeping around the edges of his confidence to glower at him from the darkness, he could have banished it back to its abyss as he always did—by thinking about his mother, his oldest mentor and most earnest cheerleader, for whom Enola Gay had been named the day before (much to the consternation of Captain Lewis, the aircraft’s officially assigned full-time pilot).6


Tibbets was supremely confident in his crew, at least half of whom he had handpicked personally for this mission. For the priority task of getting Little Boy where it had to be, when it had to be there, the two most critically important of these crew members were his navigator, Captain Theodore “Dutch” Van Kirk, and his bombardier, Major Tom Ferebee. Both men were widely regarded as being among the best at their respective jobs in the US Army Air Forces, both had been flying on Tibbets’ personal aircraft since their Eighth Air Force B-17 days over Europe in 1942, and both had been among the first men whose personnel folders Tibbets had “pulled” to join him when he was forming up the atomic-attack-specialist 509th Composite Group in Utah the previous autumn.7


Also flying with Tibbets today were another two trusted companions from his old Eighth Air Force days: flight engineer Sergeant Wyatt Duzenbury and tail gunner Sergeant Robert Caron. The final four members of the crew were Captain Lewis; assistant flight engineer Sergeant Robert Shumard, who would help Duzenbury coax maximum performance out of the B-29’s suite of four very powerful but also very temperamental engines; radar operator Sergeant Joseph Stiborik, who would assist Van Kirk with navigation or, alternately, bombardier Ferebee in target acquisition in the event of sudden inclement weather; and radio operator PFC Richard Nelson, whose primary tasks would be to monitor VHF signals from the weather reconnaissance planes over Hiroshima, Kokura, and Nagasaki, and to relay them between Tibbets, mission HQ in Tinian, and the 509th liaison on Iwo Jima for the replacement strike plane Top Secret.8 Nelson would also stand by to receive a special coded “abort” signal from Tinian in the event that some miraculous diplomatic development resulted in Japan’s surrender before Enola Gay reached its target.9









THE BOMB







Aboard Enola Gay


0715 hours (0615 hours Japan)





THE ONLY ELEMENT of today’s operation over which Tibbets did not have complete knowledge and authority was Little Boy itself. Enola Gay might have been Tibbets’, but Little Boy was the purview of Captain Parsons and his two other Project Alberta “passengers”: Army ordnance officer and Little Boy specialist Lieutenant Morris Jeppson, whose job was to assist Parsons in preparing and arming Little Boy; and a short, pugnacious Army radio countermeasures first lieutenant from Baltimore named Jacob Beser, whose primary mission responsibility today was to ensure that Little Boy’s highly sensitive radar-based automatic-fusing system was not inadvertently set off by rogue Japanese radio or other electromagnetic signals.


Parsons was an Annapolis graduate and, at forty-three, the oldest man on the aircraft today by more than a dozen years. He had made a name for himself in the Navy as a math whiz and a technical engineer, and he had been the top ordnance researcher in the service when he was assigned to the Manhattan Project practically concurrently with its inception. His involvement with the specialist bombing unit that was to become the 509th Composite Group even predated that of its eventual commander.


As a Manhattan Project researcher, he had put in long months with Robert Oppenheimer and the rest of the atomic weapons development team of Nobel Prize winners and other world-class physicists at their main research laboratory in Los Alamos, New Mexico. Some three weeks earlier, flying over the New Mexico desert in an observation B-29, he had also witnessed “Trinity”—the successful test detonation of the first atomic bomb.


As the chief “weaponeer” for the mission, Parsons would have final judgment and say as to whether “his” bomb would actually be dropped on a target or not. As unforeseen events might dictate, he also had the authority to have Little Boy disarmed and dumped in the ocean, unexploded, if this proved to be necessary to save the plane and crew and/or to prevent it from falling into the hands of the enemy. Finally, he had the authority to order the bomb defused and disarmed in flight so that it could be flown back to Tinian for recovery or, under different circumstances, to Iwo Jima for reloading on Top Secret.1


Because Jeppson was Parsons’ “assistant weaponeer,” his primary jobs today would be to help his boss place firing charges in Little Boy after Enola Gay had safely taken off from Tinian (after all, nobody wanted an atomic bomb prematurely detonating in the middle of North Field); to check and recheck the complex electronic circuitry of Little Boy’s triplicate layers of redundant fusing systems; and to replace a bank of three saltshaker-sized green safety plugs located in the outer casing of the bomb with three red firing plugs. This last step was required to close and activate the arming and fusing circuitry in the bomb, and it would be performed during the final approach to Japan.


At 0253, eight minutes after takeoff from Tinian and once at a safe enough remove from it to begin powering up Little Boy, Parsons and Jeppson crawled out of Enola Gay’s main crew compartment and went to work. After climbing a short ladder down into the plane’s bomb bay, they began the first stage of arming the bomb—opening an access hatch near its tail to charge the firing mechanism with four two-pound bags of cordite gunpowder and a detonator.


For such an exorbitantly expensive weapon with such highly sophisticated and complex electronic triggering systems, Little Boy’s firing mechanism was surprisingly simple: a converted naval gun barrel running nearly the entirety of the bomb’s length. This arrangement was, in a form-following-function sense, the reason for Little Boy’s distinctive elongated shape.


At the breech end of this gun barrel was a projectile stack of uranium 235 (U-235) rings with a combined mass of some thirty-nine kilograms. These rings were backed, in firing configuration, by a tungsten carbide plunger disk, the propellant cordite bags, and the detonator, which was connected to Little Boy’s electronic fusing. At the muzzle end of the barrel was a target slug of some twenty-five kilograms of U-235 sized to fit—with a tight squeeze—through the holes of the projectile rings.


Kept separate, the projectile rings and the target slug did not possess enough U-235 on their own to form a “critical mass” to create the kind of runaway chain reaction of nuclear fission that produced an explosion. In this state, the material was even radioactively weak enough for it to be handled with gloves (though inhaling or ingesting even a few atoms’ worth of it would not have been advisable). Placed together, however, the rings and the slug would constitute a critical mass of U-235 that, upon its formation, would almost instantaneously undergo a chain reaction of catastrophically radioactive nuclear fission. Depending on how quickly the material was brought together, this chain reaction would either be stupendously explosive or it would just end up being a very “dirty” (and expensive) heat-generating lump fatal to any living thing in its vicinity as its shattering atoms of U-235 spewed out alpha and beta particles, gamma rays, and neutrons.


In terms of producing the desired “fast” chain reaction versus ending up with an undesirable “slow” one, the margin of error came down to a matter of microseconds. If the material was placed together with insufficient velocity, the result would be what the physicists at Los Alamos called a “fizzle.” Using an analogy of the critical mass lump as a vigorously shaken bottle of Coca-Cola, a fizzle is what would happen if the bottle cap was very slowly and incrementally opened as opposed to popping it fully open all at once and getting the expected (and, in the case of this analogy, desired) vigorous geyser of carbonated sugar water. In an actual fizzle event, the colliding halves of the critical mass would leak away their combined explosive capacity as they traveled the final centimeters, millimeters, and micrometers separating them before they came into full contact with each other. There would still be an explosion, but it would be something equivalent in force to that of a conventional bomb—if even that—and it would diffuse the critical mass before it had a chance to exploit more than a minute fraction of its fissile capacity.


To get the “fast” chain reaction necessary to produce the desired massive, catastrophically violent nuclear explosion, a critical mass of U-235 had to be formed as quickly as possible—that is, before it had time to fizzle away the energy for its “pop.” Physicists had crunched the numbers to get a ballpark idea of the minimal mass of U-235 required for criticality, as well as the minimum velocity required to result in a fast chain reaction versus a slow one. With the latter number in hand, they realized that a fast chain reaction could be achieved by using conventional chemical explosives to trigger a nuclear explosion. In the Little Boy design, this would be achieved by detonating the cordite firing charge in the breech of the gun barrel, propelling the projectile rings down the gun barrel to slam into the target slug at the speed of an artillery shell. There would be no time for a fizzle: the (for all intents and purposes) instantaneously formed critical mass of U-235 would undergo a fast chain reaction of violently explosive atomic fission in a matter of nanoseconds, producing heat at temperatures that had no business occurring naturally on earth, and destructive power that—even in the opinion of some of the world-class physicists who helped build the things—had no business in the hands of ordinary mortals.2


Pre–Manhattan Project US government scientists had known since at least 1941 that a U-235–based atomic bomb of this basic design could function if enough of the uranium isotope could be refined, isolated, harvested, and then thrust quickly enough into a lump of sufficient size to achieve explosive critical mass.3 Figuring out the gun-barrel arrangement to reach the desired critical mass with sufficient speed had been the easy part. Getting enough U-235 for the job, though, had been a technical and logistical nightmare.


Over nearly three years, the Manhattan Project spent some 60 percent of its entire wartime budget trying to do just that. The problem was that only seven-tenths of 1 percent of naturally occurring uranium atoms consisted of the unstable U-235 isotope that was capable of undergoing nuclear fission—the rest of it was of the unfissionable U-238 variety.


Another method of harvesting fissile material was to convert U-238 into plutonium through uranium enrichment—intense neutron bombardment inside a nuclear reactor—but the technology for this was still several years away when the Manhattan Project first got underway. With the specter of Nazi Germany getting atomic bombs before America breathing down its collective neck, the Manhattan Project had to go with the technology it had, and considering what was at stake (or believed to be at stake—the Nazis never got anywhere near developing a functioning device), the crucial decision was reached to go big on uranium refinement.


At the time, scientists had no way of quickly and efficiently refining uranium to get a quantity of bomb-grade U-235 sufficient for a critical mass of the stuff. To overcome this engineering and scientific challenge, Brobdingnagian efforts and expenditure were sunk into building massive top secret facilities for uranium refining at Oak Ridge, Tennessee, as the first major project of the Manhattan Project. The undertaking eventually consumed some $1.2 billion of the Manhattan Project’s total wartime expenditure of $1.9 billion.


From an engineering standpoint, the construction of the Oak Ridge facilities and the mind-bogglingly complicated machinery and other equipment used there was a stupendous accomplishment. From a scientific standpoint, though, anyone involved had to admit that Oak Ridge had turned out to be something of a boondoggle: After all that time, effort, and expenditure, by the time Parsons and Jeppson climbed down into Enola Gay’s bomb bay, essentially the entirety of the U-235 harvested by the United States over nearly three years was sitting in the repurposed naval gun barrel at Little Boy’s core. And even that much had been gathered only barely in time for this mission.4


Having only one atomic bomb on hand would have been unacceptable in light of American strategic aims of ending the war without necessitating an invasion; once the Japanese had shaken off the shock of the first atomic bomb going off over one of their cities, they would have to be convinced that the Americans had an unlimited supply of the things and that they were prepared to use the weapons over and over again until Japan capitulated or, alternately, was wiped off the face of the earth.


Luckily for America (but unluckily for the city of Nagasaki), the Manhattan Project had not bet the entire farm on U-235 refining. Once Enrico Fermi demonstrated in late 1942 with the world’s first nuclear reactor (what Fermi and his colleagues at the time referred to as a “pile”) that chain reactions of uranium could be sustained and controlled, the key technology for the production of plutonium was at hand. Since 1944, a top secret and nightmarishly environmentally destructive facility on the banks of the Columbia River in the high desert of Washington State had been producing plutonium of bomb-grade quality.5


However, extreme challenges in developing the technology to induce explosive fast chain reactions in plutonium—the most significant being that the gun-barrel configuration did not work with this material—had caused extensive delays in the atomic bomb program. These delays saved Germany from being the eventual target of the first atomic weapons, but they would not save Japan from that fate. The technological problems had eventually been ironed out, and the plutonium-cored Fat Man atomic bomb design had been successfully detonated in the Trinity test on July 16, 1945, ten weeks after Germany’s surrender. Now America was producing enough plutonium to make several Fat Man bombs a month. One of these was already on Tinian, ready to go, and more were on the way.


In the meantime, for the opening act of Japan’s nuclear Götterdämmerung, the one-off weapon Little Boy would get its one and only day in the sun. At 0715 Tinian / Enola Gay time, after hours of preparation and circuit testing with Captain Parsons, Lieutenant Jeppson replaced the bomb’s green safety plugs with red firing plugs, its internal battery power came online, and Little Boy winked to life. After the deed was done and reported to the cockpit, Tibbets got on the intercom and announced to his crew: “We are carrying the world’s first atomic bomb.”6









FAITH IN FINAL VICTORY







Chūgoku Military District Air Defense HQ bunker


Hiroshima Castle


0709 hours (Japan)





STRAIGHT FLUSH ENTERED Japanese airspace nine thousand meters over the Shikoku island port of Mugi, heading north-northwest toward the main Japanese Home Island of Honshu.1 As part of its special weather recon mission on the morning of August 6, the lone B-29 was flying the same course the Little Boy strike force would fly an hour later if the skies over the primary target of Hiroshima were clear this morning.


Shortly after seven a.m. local time, as Straight Flush passed over Misaki Peninsula on the northern coast of Shikoku, it was picked up by a Japanese air defense observation post. The bogey contact was immediately reported by dedicated landline to Kure Naval Arsenal, the most important Imperial Japanese Navy base in the region. Concurrently, the bogey was also reported to Imperial Japanese Army air defense authorities in Hiroshima.


As part of the Army’s hondo kessen (“final decisive battle for Japan”) preparations to counter the Allied invasion of the Home Islands expected later in 1945, the entire ground war defense for the western half of the Japanese archipelago was going to be coordinated from Hiroshima. The command responsible for this mission was the Second General Army, formed the previous April under Field Marshal Hata Shunroku.2 The Second General Army was headquartered across the street from the Hiroshima railway station on the northern edge of the city; a sizable portion of its table of organization and equipment still existed only on paper and war-gaming tables. At the moment, however, its busiest daily mission was to oversee defense preparations for the southernmost Home Island, Kyushu—where the first Allied landings were expected and where the Japanese troops and tanks and artillery pieces waiting for them were quite real, indeed, and increasing daily in strength, reaching some 545,000 troops digging in and preparing to defend the island as of the beginning of August.3 Given the high priority of this mission, the headquarters’ location directly adjacent to Hiroshima Station, astraddle the main railway and communications trunk line in western Japan, was ideal. From this spot, the Second General Army could closely monitor the constant flow of military rail traffic to Kyushu and ensure that it was kept running as smoothly as possible.


Another aspect about the site that must surely have seemed ideal—if not too good to be true—was the fact that the Allies’ bombers seemed to be completely ignoring the city during these long, slow, hot summer days of 1945.


A twenty-minute walk west of Hata’s command was the headquarters of the Chūgoku Military District / 59th Army, housed on the grounds of the old samurai castle that had given Hiroshima its name nearly three hundred fifty years earlier. Like its parent organization, the Second General Army, the double-barreled name of this command was an idiosyncrasy of Japan’s hurried hondo kessen preparations. Once actual bullets started flying in the streets of Hiroshima, the command, in its guise as the 59th Army under Lieutenant General Fujii Yōji, would be coordinating military operations against the Allied invaders in the old geographical designation of the Chūgoku region—an area encompassing the prefectures of Okayama, Hiroshima, Yamaguchi, Shimane, and Tottori, which constituted the westernmost third of the main Japanese Home Island of Honshu.


In the meantime, General Fujii oversaw the military governmental administration of this same geographical region as commander of the Chūgoku Military District (CMD). At present, the CMD’s primary activity was coordinating air defense measures in the area, with particular emphasis on its home turf of Hiroshima, where an ambitious campaign of firebreak construction was clearing long, wide swaths of mostly privately owned wooden housing and storefronts to protect key military and civilian government installations in the downtown districts from American incendiary raids. Thousands of Hiroshima civilians were assisting in this crash project, and many thousands—often the same individuals—were being “dehoused” as their homes were torn down to clear the firebreak lanes.


The administrative center of the Hiroshima Castle complex during daytime working hours was an old, late nineteenth-century building that had housed Emperor Meiji’s Imperial General Headquarters (IGHQ) during the First Sino-Japanese War (1894–1895). Its 24/7 nerve center, however, was an underground concrete bunker facility built near the southern moat of the castle when the CMD had been designated and activated in June 1945. The primary function of the bunker facility was to coordinate air defense for the Chūgoku region. Army personnel in this hot, dank underground workspace monitored enemy aircraft activity on their western Japan beat around the clock, in shifts, dependent on radar and observation posts in the region as well as on civilian radio broadcasts from NHK stations around the country to serve as their eyes and ears on the outside world.4


Also working in the bunker were thirty-member-strong shifts—three per twenty-four hours—composed of mobilized students from nearby Hijiyama Girls’ School. In their blue school uniform sailor blouses and Rising Sun headbands, and with their adorable pluck and uncomplaining enthusiasm, the girls were regarded with both fondness and respect by their military colleagues in the bunker.5


Perhaps aware, on some level, that part of the value of their work here also involved morale boosting, the Hijiyama girls invariably peppered their exchanges with their military colleagues with chipper patriotic exhortations—no doubt earnestly and sincerely felt—to keep up the good fight and do their best for a nation that had undying faith in final victory.6 If any of the adults in their work environment were beginning to harbor personal doubts about Japan’s fortunes at this point in the war, none of these morale-sapping sentiments seemed to have rubbed off on the schoolgirls.


Like millions of their age peers around the country mobilized to work in military facilities like this, toiling in munitions and aircraft factories, or helping to dig defensive earthworks at expected invasion sites around the archipelago, these girls—fourteen to fifteen years old—had barely seen the inside of a classroom for the past year. Of even more significance in molding their worldviews and mindsets was the fact that their age demographic had never known a Japan that was not engaged in, or at least preparing for, full-scale, all-out warfare utilizing the total physical, economic, political, cultural, and spiritual resources of the nation. This was the world they had known all their lives. They made sense of it and their place in it by counting themselves among the emperor’s most ardent and loyal subjects. Their fighting spirit was nourished by a round-the-clock stream of daily media content drilling into their heads the notion that despite the fact that the Americans were now burning their country’s cities to the ground every night (everywhere, it seemed, but Hiroshima), Japan’s peerless spiritual strength would eventually prevail over the cowardly enemy’s material superiority. As the girls marched to work for every shift, they often sang songs about being prepared to die to help make that happen. Before their shifts, they would form up to receive exhortative speeches from their teacher chaperones and officers from the HQ building before engaging in thirty minutes or so of mock bayonet drill with rubber-tipped bokujū practice rifle stocks. Belying any suspicions that their enthusiasm might have just been empty cheerleading, their age peers on Okinawa a few months earlier, and those on Saipan a year before that, had already shown that the ardor and resolve proclaimed in these scripted public displays were not always just an act put on for a captive audience of fellow Japanese slowly succumbing to malnutrition and being terrorized nightly under Curtis LeMay’s incendiary bombs.


When the Straight Flush contact was reported shortly after 0700 on August 6, the girls in the command and communications room of the bunker went into action, manning phone desks where they received reports from observation posts along the bogey’s route. They passed these reports through a small aperture in a concrete wall opening into the otherwise off-limits operations room, where one entire wall was occupied by a giant map of western Japan fitted with small electric lightbulbs at locations of each of the thirty-three air defense observation posts in the CMD.7 When a contact report came in from any one of them, its light would be illuminated, and this information would assist in tracking the heading and likely target of any incoming enemy bomber formation.


This morning, the duty officer in charge was thirty-two-year-old Major Aoki Nobuyoshi, who appraised the incoming data on Straight Flush’s ingress and assessed whether the threat merited disrupting Hiroshima’s work routines (i.e., war production) with either a keikaikeihō general warning alert or a kūshūkeihō full air raid alert, the latter of which would compel all civilians in the city to drop whatever they were doing at the moment and run for air raid shelters.


At 0709, Major Aoki decided that the lone B-29 did not merit a full air raid alert. Protocol did, however, call for at least a general-warning-alert order in such a situation, and this was duly issued.8 In quick succession, the Hijiyama girls sent out calls to antiaircraft batteries and other air defense facilities in the region. Although the nation’s force of fighter planes was for the most part grounded by this point in the war to conserve aircraft and aviation fuel for kamikaze use against the anticipated Allied invasion, notices went out to their airfields anyway.9 Occasionally, in similar circumstances, a few desultory sorties might be sent up from these fields, perhaps more to buck civilian morale on the ground than to try to intercept B-29s that were in any case usually flying too fast and high for any Japanese fighters to reach. On this day, however, no planes would go up after the lone American B-29.


The girls also gave the NHK Radio Hiroshima announcer in the bunker instructions to begin broadcasting the alert, and relayed Major Aoki’s order to sound air raid sirens throughout the area to the Hiroshima prefectural office.10 There, the civil servant on duty at the Air Defense Observation Post Bureau flipped a switch, and for the seventh time in ten hours, sirens began another low-moan-to-high-shriek crescendo that echoed through the streets of the exhausted city.11


According to civil defense directives, households with elderly family members and/or small children were to start moving off to their nearest bomb shelters in the event of a general warning alert, and across the city, Keibōdan air raid wardens and other professional and volunteer civil defense first responders (police and firefighters) made sure that standard operating procedure was followed. As it was only a general warning and not an air raid alert, though, all other able-bodied adults were free—if not encouraged—to go on with their morning routines, and this was just what most did.


It was, after all, only one high-flying plane.
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THE GENERAL ALERT was an inauspicious beginning to another Monday morning of life during wartime for the residents of Hiroshima, as very few of them had been able to sleep more than an hour or two—if that—because of the incessant sonic barrage of air raid sirens throughout the previous night.


The sleep-ruining culprits had been two separate air raids by large formations of B-29s. The first had been against petroleum facilities in Ube, Yamaguchi Prefecture, about a hundred fifty kilometers to the west. The second was a B-29 incendiary attack against the textile-manufacturing town of Imabari in the Shikoku Military District, some sixty kilometers away to the southeast across the Seto Inland Sea.1 Technically speaking, even though the latter was the closer of the two attacks, the Imabari raid had occurred outside of General Fujii’s bailiwick, but the relative proximity and size of the enemy bomber formations and the constant flyover of the Inland Sea between Hiroshima and Imabari by American reconnaissance and command liaison aircraft had compelled Chūgoku HQ to err on the side of caution and stay on full alert. LeMay’s bombers, after all, had been known to conduct feints during their raids, changing headings at the last minute to catch their targets’ air defenses off guard. Accordingly, twice during the night, residents of the region had been roused from their futons by the sirens and directed by NHK Radio announcer Furuta Masanobu’s broadcasts from the Chūgoku HQ air defense operations bunker to don their protective gear, shoulder their emergency bags, gather their family members, and head for the shelters—where they remained once for two and a half hours, and a second time for an hour and forty-five minutes.2


On the bright side, Hiroshima’s luck vis-à-vis the B-29s had held up once again, but the downside was that the commuters shuffling into town along Hiroshima’s dusty midsummer byways were even more exhausted than usual this morning.


In the parts of town closer to the waterfront, such as the Ujina Harbor District, residents had been kept awake not only by the warning sirens, but also by the sounds of actual explosions carrying over the water from Imabari. Thirteen-year-old Ujina resident Tominaga Chieko, a first-year student at Second Hiroshima Prefectural Girls’ School, heard the Imabari bombs and secondary explosions from the burning town as distant rolling thunder. Despite being physically exhausted from working at an air defense firebreak-clearing site near city hall with her classmates on Sunday, she had been unable to sleep a wink—kept awake by the sirens, by having to run back and forth to her local air raid shelter, and by the bombing sounds carrying across Hiroshima Bay from Imabari.


This morning, as the sirens wailed throughout the city to alert citizens to Straight Flush’s incursion, Chieko was running a low-grade fever and afflicted with a bad case of diarrhea. Her condition was no doubt exacerbated by a combination of chronic exhaustion from sleep deprivation and physical fatigue from the firebreak work. But the real culprit behind the diarrhea was a crate of grapes the Tominagas had received the previous day as the gift of an uncle from neighboring Okayama Prefecture. The grapes were a luxury (and technically contraband) delicacy in late-war Japan, when most people were subsisting on a near-starvation diet.3 Accordingly, Chieko’s mother had originally planned to ration them out one at a time to family members to make them last as long as possible. But when the air raid sirens had started that night, they all agreed that it would be better to eat all the grapes while they still could rather than risk losing them in a fire. So Chieko and the other family members had stuffed themselves in an ecstasy of grape gorging.


Now, ten hours later, Chieko was doubled up with cramps on her futon. This did not stop her, however, from arguing with her mother’s decision that the fever and diarrhea were reason enough to duck out of firebreak detail this morning. In this case, Chieko’s strenuous objections were not motivated by a burning desire to work for a war she had long since stopped believing in. And her insistence on going to her firebreak worksite certainly did not arise from some unrequited love for Hiroshima. In fact, it was closer to the truth that she hated the city. She hated that her elite Mitsubishi executive father had been transferred here to manage Ujina harbor operations for the Army. She hated the provincial mindset and the bumpkinish way people talked here, and the way her neighbors and peers laughed whenever she opened her mouth and they heard her well-educated Tokyo accent. At school, she hated the lockstep conformity, patriotic naivete, and general ignorance of her classmates and the way that they constantly dropped references and comments betraying the resentment they held toward this Tokyo interloper. She hated that they thought she was a snob and a city slicker softy who wasn’t pulling her weight for the war effort because she had a piano and live-in servants and two flush-toilet bathrooms in her big Ujina house. She wanted to go to the worksite this morning because she wanted to prove her classmates wrong. And her intention to defy her mother and go to work today was only intensified when her older sister, Machiyo, a student at nearby Hiroshima Prefectural Women’s Teachers College, teased her about letting down the war effort on account of a little tummy ache.4


[image: ]


After the “All Clear” for the Imabari raid had been sounded at 0215, the staff of CMD HQ was kept busy keeping an eye on (but not sounding alarms for) a third B-29 raid—this one against Nishinomiya, Osaka, in neighboring Chūbu Military District. When the last American planes connected to the raid cleared Japanese airspace sometime after four in the morning, General Fujii gathered his headquarters staff, thanked them for their hard work on this long night, and dismissed them to go home to their quarters with orders to return to work by 1030 instead of the usual 0800. A skeleton crew of two field-grade officers—a lieutenant colonel and a major—was left on duty to mind the HQ offices, and Major Aoki was left in charge of the operations room in the air defense command bunker. If any more sirens were going to be sounded in the Chūgoku region this morning, it would be on his orders.


One kilometer southwest of where Aoki had been keeping his wee-hours bunker vigil, his young family—wife, Fumi; four-year-old daughter, Yoshimi; infant son, Nobumi; and sister-in-law—slept, or tried to sleep, in their Army-rented home in the district of Fukuro-machi.5


[image: ]


Hiroshima Castle was a symbolically appropriate site for Chūgoku HQ. It had been a traditional locus of regional political authority and military power since the sixteenth century.


In the late 1580s, when the Japanese islands were still racked by power struggles between rival warrior clans, samurai warlord Mōri Terumoto was looking for a new fortress home. When he was surveying potential sites for the construction of a castle in his western Honshu domain of Aki, his eye soon fell on the broad fan delta of the Ōta River as a potential location. The seven streams (the Ōta and six tributaries) cutting roughly north to south through the seven-kilometer-wide delta here offered excellent potential commercial access to a bay fronting on the Inland Sea. Moreover, as these bodies of water formed a deep, naturally multilayered moat that provided defense against potential attackers—an occupational hazard for any samurai commander at the time—this particular piece of real estate offered clear military advantages, as well.6 This last point might have been the deal sealer for Mōri. Not long after his tour of the site, his surveyors laid out a plot for the new castle almost precisely at the geographical center of the delta.7 In 1589, ground was broken on the project.


The design and construction of the castle followed the architectural norms and expectations for the headquarters of an ambitious youngish warlord on the make. They might have even been a bit on the ostentatious side. At the center of the castle’s layout was a keep surrounded by a square moat. The keep was built on an elevated earthen table walled in by large boulders and ringed with wooden ramparts. The most prominent feature of the keep was a thirty-seven-meter-tall tenshukaku donjon of wood, plaster, and elegantly gabled metallic gray roof tiles. This stately donjon would go on to dominate the skyline of the delta for the next three and a half centuries.


At the dedication ceremony for his castle, Lord Mōri christened both his new home and the delta at whose center it sat “Hiroshima”—a name purportedly inspired by the resemblance of the delta’s tributary-ribboned and islet-striated topography to a wide archipelago.


In the decades following the Meiji Restoration (1868), when Japan began flexing its muscles as an up-and-coming regional power, Hiroshima quickly evolved into a major command and logistical nexus for the new Imperial Army.


The town grew by leaps and bounds during the Meiji era, really coming into its own during the First Sino-Japanese War, when both the Imperial General Headquarters and Emperor Meiji himself picked up stakes in Tokyo and set up camp on the grounds of Hiroshima Castle for the duration of the conflict.


During this war and the Russo-Japanese War (1904–1905) and continuing for the next half century, public funds via direct Army expenditure or money from military manufacturing contracts for the Mitsubishi Shōji Co., Ltd., corporation and other private enterprises transformed Hiroshima into the Imperial Army’s most important embarkation point for men and matériel headed to and from the Asian continent and, later, the South Pacific. By 1929, some 28 percent of usable land area in the city had been set aside for military use.8 This growth was particularly impressive in the harbor district of Ujina on the south-side waterfront of the city. Here, both activity and real estate were dominated, by the start of the Second Sino-Japanese War (1937–1945), by the Imperial Japanese Army Shipping Command. This organization—basically the Japanese Army’s proprietary Merchant Marine fleet centered on the operations of troop transports and supply ships—was more commonly known in local and military circles as the Akatsuki (“Rising Sun”) Command. The Akatsuki Command was also responsible for transporting Allied POWs to and from far-flung Japanese Army camps around the empire aboard what would come to be known in postwar war crimes tribunals as “hell ships.” These vessels were infamous for their high ratio of in-transit POW fatalities due not only to atrocious onboard conditions, but also because of sinking by American aircraft and submarines.9


Concurrent with, and connected to, the evolution of the Ujina Harbor facilities, Hiroshima became one of the most important regional cargo and maintenance depots in the national railway system. By the onset of the Second World War, it had become the Seto Inland Sea’s hub for both land and maritime military transportation. The city’s population grew around this core of military-driven economic activity to a peak of nearly 420,000 in 1942. By August 1945, however, a nationwide civil defense policy of evacuating elementary-school children and select categories of adults not engaged in essential war labor from air-raid-vulnerable urban concentrations had seen the population fall to 245,000.10 By this point the city’s residents consisted primarily of those either too young or too old to endure evacuation; their caregivers; adolescents and adults engaged in war work; municipal and prefectural government employees; and some forty thousand Imperial Army soldiers.11
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ALTHOUGH HIROSHIMA HAD so far been spared one of Curtis LeMay’s city-killing fire raids, his B-29s had been passing overhead constantly for the past six months. By night, this traffic mostly consisted of roaring, low-flying armadas headed to and from the incineration of some unlucky neighboring city or to and from seeding the Seto Inland Sea with anti-shipping mines. In daylight hours, the uninvited visitors tended to fly in barely visible and only faintly audible singles, pairs, or trios, and at speeds and altitudes far above the reach of any Japanese flak artillery or fighter interceptors.1 But whether by day or night, these gigantic silver aircraft never dropped so much as an empty beer bottle or anything more lethal than propaganda leaflets on downtown Hiroshima, with the exception of a single stick of bombs mistakenly dropped on the business district in April. This is why it was not an event of much urgency or concern in the CMD air defense bunker on the morning of August 6—beyond the issuing of a routine general alert order—when Straight Flush made landfall about sixty-five kilometers to the east, banked hard left, and began flying in a beeline toward Hiroshima.2


Since early summer, when the American capture of Okinawa had put the Home Islands within range of smaller tactical aircraft, the B-29s over Hiroshima had been joined by B-24 and B-25 bombers and even the occasional sweeps of prowling P-51, P-47, or P-38 fighters. These attacks were also occasionally joined by carrier-based American naval aircraft. Unlike the stately but heretofore innocuous B-29s, however, these smaller planes occasionally strafed targets of opportunity in Hiroshima Bay and other military facilities around the area. These strikes, which seemed to be mainly done as afterthoughts, used machine-gun ammunition left over after raids on Kure Naval Arsenal, fifteen kilometers to the east. The marauders would shoot up some fishing boats or lighters in the harbor or perhaps a warehouse or storage tank on the waterfront before winging off to the southwest and their Okinawan sanctuary.


In July 1942, three months after suffering the humiliation of the Doolittle Raid on Tokyo, the Army Ministry issued a legal directive to all commands stating that since Allied aviators were dropping bombs on targets that did not meet strict criteria as being military in nature, international law did not require their proper treatment as prisoners of war. The directive gave ground commanders the authority to hold courts-martial and summarily execute for “war crimes” any Allied aviators captured in their jurisdiction.3 After February 1945, amended directives were issued delegating authority to execute captured airmen without even paying lip service to legal proceedings.4


Luckily for the crews of those few American aircraft otherwise unlucky enough to have been shot down over Greater Hiroshima, it was not the policy of the CMD to summarily execute captured enemy fliers. Instead, standard procedure called for them to be detained in downtown Hiroshima for initial interrogation and processing at Chūgoku Military Police HQ before being sent to more permanent POW facilities, such as the infamous Camp Ōmori in Tokyo, whose more notable residents included renowned Marine Corps ace “Pappy” Boyington and Captain Louis Zamperini, the former US Olympic team runner.5


When the general alert sirens began wailing for Straight Flush, thirteen American airmen were being held by military police authorities in Hiroshima. Ten B-24 crewmen and three naval aviators—all shot down in late-July raids on Kure—were locked up in holding cells either at the Chūgoku Military Police HQ or at other CMD commands in the Hiroshima Castle district of Moto-machi.6 All were mere hundreds of meters from the Aioi Bridge, which Enola Gay bombardier Tom Ferebee would be using as his aiming point an hour from now if Hiroshima ended up being Little Boy’s final destination.


The occasional high drama of an impromptu waterfront strafing or an even rarer enemy shoot-down aside, flyovers by single or small groups of American aircraft had become so frequent in recent months that the people of Hiroshima barely paid attention to them anymore.7 Moreover, civil defense authorities not only in Hiroshima but everywhere else in the country had become hesitant to squander war production man-hours by issuing air raid alerts that would send workers to bomb shelters unless it was beyond doubt that a large-scale attack was imminent.8


The approach of smaller elements of singles, pairs, or trios of B-29s or other enemy planes would merely get a general warning alert. This lower-urgency-level alert was basically a heads-up to the populace to prepare to make a run for the shelters in case these planes proved to be advance recon elements or pathfinders for a larger raid force following up from behind. Preparations in such a case would include dousing open flames and turning off gas lines; getting elderly family members and/or neighbors and small children moving toward shelters; and donning steel Army-style helmets, padded cotton bōsaizukin (“disaster prevention hoods”), or any other protective clothing at hand.


Under the original stipulations of the National Air Defense Law of 1937, able-bodied adults in cities or factories under air attack had been legally obligated to stand their ground—either as individual homeowners or organized into neighborhood or workplace volunteer fire brigades—to cooperate in firefighting and other civil defense efforts. In August 1943—scant weeks after upwards of fifty thousand residents of Hamburg had died in firestorms ignited by British incendiaries and fanned by American high explosives—the Home Ministry published millions of copies of a pamphlet titled Essential Knowledge for Air Defense and distributed them through schools and neighborhood associations. True to its title, the pamphlet included ostensibly useful instructions for constructing simple air raid shelters in house floors or gardens; making smoke-inhalation or gas masks from common household items (including smaller versions for toddlers and infants); and putting out small incendiaries with buckets, mops, and handheld bamboo-pipe water squirters. As a redundant reminder to the civilian populace of what was expected of them in the service of emperor and state, the frontispiece of the publication featured an exhortation titled the “Air Defense Creed for Final Victory,” which read:




We are all warriors defending our nation;


We shall remain at our posts even at the cost of our lives;


We shall fight on until the end, with faith in final victory;


We shall make all possible preparations, and train until we have full confidence in our abilities;


We shall follow all orders, and not act selfishly;


We shall cooperate with one another to bring all of our strength and abilities to bear in our air defense efforts.





After a March 1945 raid in which a hundred thousand residents of Tokyo had been killed in a single night, the authorities had been compelled to rethink the stand-your-ground policy for civilian urban residents. Now the issuing of an air raid alert—announced through sirens and radio broadcasts—legally obligated every person in the affected area (with the exception of official first responders) to evacuate immediately to the nearest prepared shelter, regardless of individual circumstances, the hour of the day, or weather conditions.9 Many Japanese civilians complied with this law by digging shelters in their own homes, going right through their tatami matting and floorboards to do so. If they were well enough off to afford the luxury of backyards, they dug trenches and typically covered them with logs and sandbags. But experience in real air raids had proved that these homemade shelters more often than not turned out to be crematory tombs for their occupants. A much safer option, if available, was to evacuate to steel-reinforced concrete buildings—such as schools or public offices—or, best of all, to professionally constructed communal shelters, which were typically dug into hillsides or railroad embankments.


Somehow, though, for all of the mental and physical preparations, false alarms, and civil defense drills its residents had endured, Hiroshima had yet to be visited by a full-scale air raid. East, west, north, and south of the city, Curtis LeMay’s gleaming armadas of B-29s had by this point burned down nearly every urban concentration on the Japanese archipelago with a population of more than fifty thousand. In the process, they had killed hundreds of thousands of Japanese civilians and, in the term preferred by American strategic bombing planners, “dehoused” millions more.10


But why was Hiroshima being spared?


The authorities had no firm idea as to the reason for this, but optimists among the general population came up with various theories to explain the city’s luck so far. Some attributed it to divine intervention, pointing to the fervent Jōdo (“Pure Land”) Buddhist faith traditionally observed by the majority of its residents.11 Others ventured that perhaps the Americans were not bombing the city because so many Japanese Americans had ancestral roots there, or because of the city’s important Christian community.12 One of the loopier conspiracy theories making the rounds held that Hiroshima was being spared because, for some reason, President Truman’s mother was living in the city incognito.13


Pessimists, on the other hand, saw something more ominous in Hiroshima’s so far being spared an American torch. Perhaps, as German Jesuit Hubert Cieslik overheard some of the parishioners of his Nobori-chō church saying, the enemy was saving the city for something truly awful.14


But for optimist and pessimist alike, the constant state of tension in waiting for LeMay’s other shoe to drop was taking mental and physical tolls. By early August, the residents of Hiroshima had spent several long, hot summer months of sleepless nights and exhausted days going through a seemingly never-ending routine of shelter evacuations (closely and strictly enforced by neighborhood association busybodies doubling as air raid wardens) and preparations for conflagrations that might come any night—or never at all.15


On the off chance of catching a good, or at least a better, night’s sleep in the midst of their state of chronic exhaustion, many women and small children living in the central districts—where the air raid sirens were loudest and the air raid wardens most numerous—were leaving the city each night to stay with friends or relatives in outlying suburban or rural districts. Those not fortunate enough to have countryside acquaintances simply packed up bedding and carted it out of town to sleep rough in the farming fields or on the heavily wooded mountainsides ringing the city.16 Then, a few hours later, the urban exodus would be played back in reverse: The yawning sleep refugees—bedrolls and babies slung across their backs, toddlers in tow—would pour back into the city, clogging the streets and the picturesque bridges over Hiroshima’s waterways.


Among these rush hour pedestrians, perhaps the most hurried and harried were the housewives and mothers who had to get back to their kitchens to cook breakfasts and prepare lunch pails for their menfolk and adolescent children to take to their war labor worksites. On this first Monday morning of August, these wives and mothers would be especially busy, as they would be preparing lunches for some eight thousand twelve- and thirteen-year-olds—nearly the entirety of Greater Hiroshima’s seventh- and eighth-graders—newly mobilized to do firebreak work in the downtown district.


In the standard operating procedure for firebreak clearing, teams of adult males with carpentry knowledge / skills would begin the process of toppling a wooden house or storefront on a given worksite by sawing through a key support beam on one corner of the structure. Ropes would then be strung around the roof, and large teams of chanting volunteers would pull repeatedly and rhythmically, like a tug-of-war team, until the entire structure collapsed into a pile of timber and a cloud of dust. As the final stage in the process, cleanup teams would follow up to pick through the resulting pile of rubble and divide it up into recyclable building materials (e.g., ceramic roof tiles, corrugated metal, pipes, electrical wiring, intact lumber beams, etc.). These sorted materials would then be stacked for later retrieval by trucks or carts. It was in this last task, the cleanup, that the city’s junior high school students would prove useful, as it required little in the way of physical strength and not much more than youthful energy, a positive attitude, and a naive belief in the inviolability of their cause—all qualities the children had in spades.


Tasked with overseeing the firebreak construction for the city was Major General Kotani Kazuo, local commander of the Hiroshima Military District (HMD) branch of the CMD.17 At the moment, his most pressing responsibility was to mobilize labor resources in the prefecture for the project and coordinate with local civilian authorities to do so. In short order it became quite clear among all concerned that the general was particularly insistent about getting the firebreaks finished as quickly as possible and intolerant of anyone who dared to get in his way.18


When Kotani had first pushed his proposal to put schoolchildren to work on the firebreaks, there had been understandably vociferous initial resistance to the idea among the city’s teachers and parents. The matter came to a head in mid-July 1945 during a meeting at the prefectural office, where Kotani, CMD chief of staff Major General Matsumura Shū’itsu, and other assorted HMD and CMD staff officers had gone to discuss what they saw as unsatisfactory progress on the city’s firebreak-construction work. Assembled to hear the Army’s demand for more mobilized civilian labor were prefectural and municipal bureaucrats and also principals and other faculty representatives from every educational facility in the city.19


The Army insisted that the only solution to picking up the pace on the firebreak project was to put the city’s heretofore underutilized (in their opinion) seventh- and eighth-graders to work on the clearing sites. The assembled school representatives, however, countered this by pointing out the obvious danger of having thousands of their prepubescent charges working out in the open, vulnerable to an air raid that might come at any time, and with no nearby place to seek shelter in such an event.


The military representatives responded with shouted accusations of insufficient patriotism and dedication to the war effort, insisting that the firebreak work had to take priority over such concerns as individual safety, and that it could not be completed in time without this extra student labor. The civilian faction finally folded when one of the military men—probably Kotani himself—emphasized the Army’s position by banging his sword scabbard on the floor. As face-saving salve for the defeated educators, the prefectural and city bureaucrats promised to fund more faculty chaperones for the student work teams, and managed to get the Army to agree to let the children go home every day two hours earlier than their adult “volunteer” coworkers.20
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At 0724 hours (local), Straight Flush arrived over the Hiroshima city after an uneventful ten-minute-long simulated bomb run across Hiroshima Prefecture.21 Nary a fighter had scrambled and only a couple of desultory whiffs of hopelessly short antiaircraft fire had greeted the plane during its sixty-kilometer-long ingress over dry land. The spot directly over Hiroshima where Tom Ferebee would line up the Aioi Bridge in his Norden bombsight crosshairs and press a button to hand control of the aircraft over to the device and begin a sixty-second automatic-drop procedure was actually far off in the eastern suburbs of the city; forty-four-hundred-kilogram Little Boy would begin its drop from ten kilometers up and moving with an initial horizontal velocity matching Enola Gay’s four hundred fifty kilometers an hour. Falling in a long half parabola, it would traverse about four kilometers of Hiroshima ground distance before reaching “Air Zero”—its designated detonation point some six hundred meters above the Aioi Bridge.22


Seen from nine thousand meters up, Hiroshima was like a school science fair diorama of a densely populated river delta. Dominating the terrain were five islets, none much wider than a few hundred meters or much longer than five kilometers. Laid side by side in slightly skewed north–south orientation, each of these was separated from the next by either the Ōta River or by one of its six tributaries fingering their way down and out to Hiroshima Bay. There were patches of green here and there—parks, many in strips along the waterways, and some small-scale agriculture—but most of the dry land of the Ōta River’s alluvial plain was covered cheek by jowl with tens of thousands of wooden houses and neighborhood factories with their traditional gunmetal-colored ceramic-tiled roofs. Slashing this mauve-gray mass of human habitation were hundred-meter-wide, ruler-straight light gray bands that Twentieth Air Force aerial photoreconnaissance had identified as firebreaks cleared around key military and civilian authority facilities.


At present, visibility over the city was marginally cloudy, and this was sure to improve as the hot August sun burned off the rest of the morning haze later on.


At his radio operator’s desk aboard Straight Flush, Staff Sergeant Pasquale Baldasaro encoded and then began tapping out the Hiroshima recon mission’s weather report.









A SLOW MORNING







Aboard Enola Gay


0715 hours (Japan)





FIFTY MINUTES OF flying time south-southeast of Straight Flush, Private Richard Nelson was sitting at his radio operator’s station aboard Enola Gay, with Tibbets looming over his shoulder, when Baldasaro’s coded signal started coming in. Nelson wrote out the message: Y-3 . . . Q-3 . . . B-2 . . . C-1.


Using the special cipher sheet issued for the mission, Tibbets decoded the message that Nelson wrote out: Low, middle, high cloud cover less than three-tenths at all altitudes. Bomb Primary.


“It’s Hiroshima,” Tibbets announced to the flight deck.1
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Kurashiki Aircraft Corporation


Yoshijima Plant


Yoshijima District, Hiroshima City


3.7 kilometers south of Ground Zero


0715 hours (local)





About five hundred meters west of where Tominaga Chieko had gone back to sleep in her well-appointed Ujina home, seventeen-year-old Chai Tsong Chin and his Kōryō Junior High School classmates heard the high, faint engine drone of Straight Flush over the city. Assuming it was just another “mail plane,” as they jokingly called the solitary B-29s that constantly flew over Hiroshima at all hours of the day and night, they barely gave it a second thought.


It was, after all, only one plane.


When the All Clear for the solitary intruder was sounded at 0731, Chai and his classmates were walking to work at the Kurashiki Aircraft Corporation. The company was a former textile manufacturer that had traded in its looms for lathes and was now doing subcontracting work making aircraft engine parts for the Japanese military. The factory—a typical wartime-expansion rush job of hastily and cheaply erected wood frame and corrugated metal—was located in Yoshijima, another one of Hiroshima’s waterfront districts, two islets west of Chai’s school and Tominaga Chieko’s house. It was conveniently located near the Ujina Harbor facilities and warehouses, and was directly adjacent to a half-finished Navy airstrip under construction on a long stretch of landfill poking almost a kilometer and a half out into Hiroshima Bay. Chai and his classmates had been working at the factory for several months now.


Chai had been the pride of his family back in Taiwan when he passed the entrance examination—rigorous even for a native Japanese speaker—for Hiroshima’s prestigious Kōryō Junior High School as the first step toward becoming a doctor. The plan had been for him to attend Kōryō, where he would cram for an entrance exam to a medical school in the Japanese Home Islands. The residents of Taiwan had been imperial subjects—Japanese, at least on paper—since their island had been annexed into the Empire of Greater Japan (Dai-Nippon Teikoku) after the First Sino-Japanese War. Therefore, there would have been no legal or institutional barriers to Chai getting a Japanese medical license if he graduated from such a school. Doing so would allow him to practice medicine back in Taiwan, in Mainland Japan, or anywhere else in the empire.


When Chai arrived in Hiroshima in April 1943, he’d had a bright future ahead of him. But in the meantime, Japan’s military situation had not developed favorably in terms of his plans. In fact, he had barely seen the inside of a classroom since the Student Mobilization Law had been passed the previous year, after the fall of Saipan gave the Americans the first of their long-dreamed-of Pacific B-29 bases within striking range of the Japanese Home Islands. Now Chai had neither the time nor the energy to study for medical school or, for that matter, to study anything at all, aside from slipshod on-the-job training at various war labor worksites, with the most recent of these being the Kurashiki factory.


Aircraft engine work at the plant was a travesty; the hundred twenty Kōryō third-year boys working there had little idea of what they were doing, and there were not enough skilled Kurashiki full-time employees on hand to properly supervise everyone’s work. On their first day on the job, the Kōryō boys had gone straight to work, turning piston cylinders on the lathes and casting aluminum engine blocks in green sandboxes, with only over-the-shoulder instructions and occasional screams of exasperation or alarm from full-timers to guide them. This was a situation repeated at thousands of other war plants throughout the empire in the summer of 1945. Too many of the country’s experienced skilled workers had been taken away by the Army, and the labor force of adults in nonessential industries who might have been hastily trained to replace them had long since been maxed out. Things were so bad and stretched so tightly that the critical war work of assembling combat aircraft engines—normally a task that would have been at the very apex of the industrial machinists’ trade—was being done by children, and both the quantity and the quality of production were suffering.


Work in the Kurashiki plant was noisy, arduous, and dangerous. Moreover, the Kōryō boys were not being paid for it. Along with the honor of being given this opportunity to contribute to the war effort, the free meals they received from the company were supposed to suffice as compensation for years of sacrificed schooling and youth they would never get back. Chai could have complained, but there were worse types of work he could have been doing today. If he had been two years younger, he would have been one of the four hundred Kōryō first-graders who were in downtown Hiroshima this morning, out in the brutal sun, doing the grueling work of firebreak clearing a few blocks east of Tominaga Chieko’s class.2 At least in the factory, Chai would have a roof over his head. And as today was a regularly scheduled denkyūbi (literally, “electricity holiday”) brownout—a power-grid-rationing measure—for most of the factories in the city, none of the heavy machines would be operating, so that meant he had a relatively easy work shift ahead of him. It could have been a bit cooler, but that aside, it was turning out to be a nice, slow morning.









INGRESS







Niho-machi, Hiroshima


4.7 kilometers east-southeast of Ground Zero


0731 hours (local)





WHEN THE “ALL CLEAR” sirens in the city sounded at 0731, twelve-year-old Lee Mi Cha was playing in front of her house in Niho-machi, a working-class residential and agricultural neighborhood about 4.5 kilometers southeast of the Aioi Bridge aiming point, and about the same distance, due east, from Chai Tsong Chin’s workplace at Kurashiki Aircraft Corporation.


Mi Cha was born near the southern Korean city of Daejeon in December 1932. A few months after her birth, her father moved his young family to seek his fortune in Hiroshima—part of the great migration (whether voluntary, cajoled, conned, or coerced) of Korean laborers to the Home Islands after the annexation of their homeland by Japan in 1910. The Chūgoku region—with its concentration of industries involved in military production—was a popular destination for these workers. By November 1944, the Lees were among the nearly eighty thousand ethnically Korean Japanese subjects living in Hiroshima Prefecture.1


Mi Cha’s father had worked hard over the years, including a stint in the National Railroad, some part-time farming, and other business ventures. His efforts had paid off and he was able to support his family at the level of a middle-class Japanese family—owning a home and a small field for farming. The Lees were now among the better-off families in the small Korean community in Niho. The farming side business meant there was always food on the table—one way or another—which was more than many of their neighbors, Korean or Japanese, could say. There was enough money for the older children of the household to attend junior high school—also no mean feat for a Korean family in Hiroshima. In their home neighborhood, Mi Cha and her younger siblings had no problems fitting in at the local public elementary school, where they got along with their Japanese classmates and endured little, if any, of the anti-Korean prejudice and bullying that happened in other parts the city, and in Japan in general. One reason for this, in the Lees’ case, was that they followed official directives about refraining from using the Korean language or wearing distinctive Korean clothing in public—so as to better blend in (at least visually, if not culturally) with their ethnically Japanese counterparts in their daily lives. They also made sure their children used tsūshōmei (Japanese-sounding “passing” names) outside of the family home. For example, at school and among the neighborhood children, Mi Cha used the name “Hashimoto Kazue.”


Mi Cha’s daily life was relatively carefree—at least as much as could have been expected in a wartime Japanese city that had not fallen victim to American incendiaries. But school authorities were not taking any chances on the city’s luck holding out much longer in that respect. Japan’s secondary tier of regional cities had begun to feel the wrath of Curtis LeMay earlier in the summer, and as part of a nationwide civil defense policy applying to such jurisdictions, most of the elementary-school fourth-, fifth-, and sixth-graders in Hiroshima had been evacuated in class groups to the outskirts of the city. In the case of Niho Elementary School, the children had taken up evacuation residence at two Buddhist temples in Saeki Ward, deep in the mountains on Hiroshima’s far-western edge.2 Here, they received room and board and a modicum of classroom-type instruction from their teacher chaperones.


Although participation in these evacuations was ostensibly mandatory, exemptions were available for children who, for health or other reasons, were deemed unsuited to being separated from their families. In Mi Cha’s case, her parents—possibly worried about heretofore suppressed intercultural friction with classmates flaring up under the stress of a lengthy evacuation—had made a formal request for an excusal, and it had been granted. As a result, she had spent most of the spring and summer of 1945 playing with her younger siblings at home and around the neighborhood while her junior-high-student older brother worked days doing mobilized labor on the Ujina Line—a private railway that carried cargo, soldiers, and civilian passengers between the Army’s harbor facilities and Hiroshima Station.


Now and again she and her siblings helped their father with a lotus root bog he worked near their home. Occasionally, Mi Cha and the older zanryūgumi (“stay behinder”) children in the area who had been excused from the school evacuations were corralled by neighborhood association types and coerced into doing volunteer work. Just this morning, a work group pushing carts loaded with picks and shovels had stopped in front of her house and tried to lure her away to do firebreak work with them in the city center. Finally managing to beg off with some excuse, she watched as the work band of neighborhood adults and older children pushed their carts away to the north. She would never see them again.
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When the Little Boy strike force crossed the coast of Shikoku to enter Japanese airspace, Mi Cha had long since resumed playing in front of her house. Nine kilometers to the south of her home, on the island of Etajima in Upper Hiroshima Bay, the soldiers of the Akatsuki Command’s Tenth Army Maritime Training Battalion were just wrapping up their morning calisthenics.


The outfit was commonly known as the Saitō Unit, after its commanding officer, Major Saitō Yoshio. Like its training and support cadre, its rank and file was composed mostly of newly minted and mostly teenage corporals who had recently finished an intensive training course on the nearby Inland Sea island of Shōdoshima, where they had learned how to crew the Akatsuki Command’s aging fleet of Daihatsu infantry landing craft. As the Japanese Army’s glory days of amphibious assault operations were already a fond yellowing memory by the time these boys had enlisted to participate in this training in early 1945, they shared a comforting understanding that as long as they had to be in uniform anyway, there were far worse places they could have been stationed and duties they could have been performing. This matter was rarely discussed openly, but its basic wisdom was reconfirmed every time the newspapers and the radio blared headlines about yet another wave of mass kamikaze attacks off Okinawa or yet another garrison fighting gloriously to the last man on some forlorn Pacific outpost, surrounded by Allied ships and submarines and cut off from supplies or evacuation to the Home Islands.


However, these there-but-for-the-grace-of-the-gods thoughts were short-lived.


In July, the new corporals had been posted en masse to the Akatsuki Command Annex Base at Kōno’ura, a cove on the north shore of Etajima. Upon their arrival, they had been informed that their primary duties here would no longer involve operating landing craft. Instead, the exigencies of Japan’s war effort being what they were, the boys were being assigned to what the Army called its Wakashio (“Young Tide”) Force, and their first order of business in preparation for this assignment was to begin training as pilots for a one-man Toyota-truck-engine-powered motorboat that was officially designated the “Type 4 Thin-skinned Attack Craft.” In the Akatsuki Command, the motorboat was commonly referred to as the Marure.


In September 1944, Kōno’ura had become the Akatsuki Command’s center for Marure training, logistics, and organization—hosting Wakashio units not only for the defense of Upper Hiroshima Bay and the western end of the Inland Sea, but also for combat deployment later in the autumn in the Philippines, then in Okinawa and Taiwan in early 1945. But rumors in the ranks had it that the Marure boys who had been dispatched to these war zones had been utterly obliterated by enemy defenders, and that they had achieved little in the way of combat results to show for their ultimate sacrifice.


On paper, and officially, the pilot of a Marure boat was supposed to get as close as possible to an enemy ship—preferably a troopship loaded down with enemy infantrymen—to inflict maximum casualties. Once alongside the target, the pilot would stomp on a pedal to release a two-hundred-fifty-kilogram explosive charge before flooring the throttle to try to escape before the detonation of the weapon, which was time-fused for four seconds. This, at least, was the official Navy version of how the Marure was to be used in combat. It soon came to be acknowledged by all involved in the program that, official stances aside, the Marure was, in fact, a waterborne kamikaze weapon. Its deployment would of necessity involve the destruction of machine and pilot alike—regardless of whether or not it got anywhere near its intended target.


One of the Saitō Unit’s new Marure pilots, seventeen-year-old Corporal Tsuchiya Keiji, had been a latecomer to Kōno’ura. During his last days at Shōdoshima, he had come down with a nearly fatal case of dysentery that had laid him up at an Army animal quarantine facility and hospital on Ninoshima—another island in Upper Hiroshima Bay, just north of Kōno’ura. One day during his three-week convalescence, the island had been showered by leaflets air-dropped from a B-29. These warned residents of the Hiroshima area to evacuate the city, as it would soon be the target of a massively destructive air attack.3 While the dropping of such leaflets on Japanese cities was a standard American psychological operations tactic by this point in the war, scuttlebutt in the hospital had it that the Americans had something special in store for Hiroshima. A well-educated orderly in the hospital who had befriended Tsuchiya told him that he had heard rumors that the Americans had developed a special weapon—a single shingata bakudan (“new-type bomb”) of unimaginable destructive power—and that Hiroshima was to be its first target. However, after arriving at Kōno’ura and being confronted with the details of his new duties as a Marure crewman, Tsuchiya—now with far more immediate personal-survival concerns on his mind—forgot all about the leaflets and the special-bomb-rumor episode. He was also incredibly busy, particularly so on this morning, as today was to be his turn to perform the solemn duty of bringing his platoon leader’s breakfast tray up to the headquarters shack.
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Sometime around 0750 hours local time, Chai Tsong Chin and his classmates settled into work at Kurashiki Aircraft.


In Ujina, Tominaga Chieko had been asleep since losing her argument with her mother about missing her school’s firebreak detail this morning.


In Niho-machi, Lee Mi Cha was still playing alone in front of her house.


In Kōno’ura, Tsuchiya Keiji was mentally rehearsing the lines he would speak when he delivered his platoon leader’s breakfast tray a little less than half an hour from now.


Nine thousand meters over Misaki Peninsula, on the northern coast of Shikoku, the Little Boy strike force had reached attack altitude and was heading out over the Inland Sea.


A few minutes before the force reached the coast of Honshu to assume its attack heading for Hiroshima, the photography plane dropped back and entered a three-hundred-sixty-degree turn to put distance between itself and the other two planes. After a circuit over the Inland Sea, it assumed a westerly heading parallel to the one the Enola Gay and the Great Artiste would take as they approached their target over land. It was, of course, important for science, for politics, and for posterity that what was going to happen in Hiroshima approximately ten minutes from now was to be photographed; to ensure that both those photographs and their photographers survived the event, it had been deemed prudent to put a generous margin of error, distance-wise, between the cameramen and their subject.


On board Enola Gay, which was still flying on autopilot, Tibbets and the rest of the crew donned heavy armor-lined flak suits and readied their parachute gear in preparation for beginning their bomb run. Parsons and Jeppson made last-minute checks on Little Boy’s circuitry before Parsons completed the arming sequence. Van Kirk cross-checked his navigation with Sergeant Stiborik’s radar imagery of the outline of the fast-approaching Honshu coastline. Beser—forgoing his detested flak suit—monitored his ECM gear to make sure no Japanese radio or radar activity on any of the four electromagnetic frequencies intefered with the range-finding radar in Little Boy’s firing circuitry using these wavelengths.


Each workstation gave its report to Tibbets. Weapon, clear. Navigation, clear. ECM, clear.4


[image: ]


Whether intentional or not, the approach of the Little Boy strike force was timed perfectly for catching Hiroshima’s air defense during a lull in its alert and response capability as the graveyard shift at CMD HQ was being relieved by the daytime shift. Most of the Hijiyama girls getting off the graveyard shift were away from their communications tables, eating their customary meal on the Army’s dime before going back to their dormitory on the castle grounds to sleep and rest up for the following night’s work shift. From LTG Fujii Yōji on down, all of the senior and middle-ranked officers at CMD HQ who had pulled semi-all-nighters had gone back to their quarters around four in the morning, leaving Major Aoki in charge of the air defense bunker and two other field grade officers to mind the store in the main headquarters building.5 General Fujii and the other senior officers had not been roused to return to duty during the Straight Flush incursion.6 Most were probably sleeping through the last minutes of their lives.


As Enola Gay and the Great Artiste bore down on the city, the Hijiyama girls coming in for the day shift were outside on the castle grounds. After standing in formation to receive their morning motivational speeches, they engaged in “bayonet” drills with their wooden bokujū. Their shouts and exhortations would have been audible through a small window high in the concrete of the northern wall of the air defense bunker, where three of the Hijiyama girls—Itamura Katsuko, Nishida Toshie, and Ōkura Yoshie—remained at their phone desks in the command and communications room.


On the other side of a concrete wall, Private First Class Furukawa Yoshio manned a radio set in the wireless room. Next to him, the table for the NHK announcer night shift team was empty, as these civilians had left to return to their office in Nagarekawa-chō shortly after the Straight Flush All Clear.


Meanwhile, and perhaps most crucially in terms of the chain of events that was about to unfold, Major Aoki had also temporarily left the bunker to confer with the two graveyard shift field-grade officers in the two-story main CMD building, several hundred meters away beside the castle keep. Two junior NCOs were left in charge of the bunker’s operations room. This meant that there was now no one present in this crucial information and communications center with enough rank to call the prefectural office and tell them to begin sounding air defense sirens if enemy contacts appeared over the city. The Navy’s air defense people at Kure Naval Arsenal could—and would, some minutes later—call NHK Hiroshima with an air raid warning. However, in terms of sirens—the population’s primary early-warning system—their jurisdiction did not extend past Kure city limits.


At 0806, an air defense observation post sixty kilometers east of Hiroshima phoned CMD HQ and Kure Naval Arsenal to report two high-flying enemy aircraft passing over their position on a northwest heading.7 Simultaneously, the lightbulb for the Matsunaga-chō post lit up on the operations room wall map. While this was happening, precious minutes were squandered as the two NCOs who had been left to mind the store debated whether this contact was actually the same aircraft that had triggered the earlier general alert simply circling back to take another harmless pass over the city. Failing to reach a conclusion and/or unwilling to take the responsibility for a potential citywide false alarm, they sought out Major Aoki to make the decision for them and determine whether this newest bogey—whatever it was—merited another round of air raid sirens. With their departure, Private Furukawa was now the highest-ranking individual in the bunker.









THE BOMB RUN







Aboard Enola Gay


Approximately twenty kilometers due east of Ground Zero


0807 hours (local)





THROUGH THE GREENHOUSE-LIKE plexiglass canopy encasing Enola Gay’s flight deck, the mountain-ringed, island-speckled bay of the target area was just beginning to come into view on the distant western horizon.


“Do you all agree that’s Hiroshima?” Tibbets asked the crew members in the forward area of the fuselage.1 The query was answered affirmatively. All had studied the geography and topography of the Hiroshima area (as well as Kokura and Nagasaki) so thoroughly and for so long that they could have easily drawn accurate maps of their targets blindfolded.


As the seconds ticked down to the Little Boy strike force’s scheduled 0814 hours arrival at Tom Ferebee’s aiming point, reports from the field continued to come in to the CMD HQ operations room. The light for the Itaki observation post near Saijō-chō, twenty-some kilometers east of Hiroshima, lit up on the bunker’s wall map, and a report came in of a small high-flying formation of B-29s headed west. Minutes later, the wall map light for a searchlight battery at Nakano, fewer than twelve kilometers to the east, lit up, and another report of approaching aircraft came in. Both the phoned-in reports and the winking wall map now clearly showed that the contact—whatever it was—was heading directly toward Hiroshima.2
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At 0812 hours, the Little Boy strike force began its final bomb run, precisely on schedule. Aboard Enola Gay, Tom Ferebee assumed his position at his bombardier station and began feeding data into his Norden bombsight. Tibbets reminded the rest of the crew to put on their special dark Polaroid-lensed protective goggles to protect their eyes from the expected atomic bomb flash.3 At 0813 hours, Tibbets said, “It’s yours,” and handed over control of the plane to Ferebee and his Norden.4
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At Kōno’ura, Corporal Tsuchiya carefully balanced his platoon leader’s breakfast tray as he walked from the mess hall up to the command shack.
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At Yoshijima, one of Chai Tsong Chin’s classmates ran into the work area of Kurashiki Aircraft and said “Hey, someone just said the plane from before is coming back. . . .”
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In Ujina, Tominaga Chieko was lying on her futon, nursing her stomach, while her father sat in the foyer of their house wrapping Army-style canvas gaiter straps around his calves as he prepared to head off to work in the harbor.
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In Niho-machi, Lee Mi Cha heard the drone of aircraft, high and faint, somewhere to the north.


“Are those airplanes?” she asked an adult neighbor working in front of his house.


The neighbor answered affirmatively.


Mi Cha looked up and caught the sun glinting off a tiny silver speck moving across the northern sky.


[image: ]


At 0813, the air defense bunkers at Kure Naval Arsenal and CMD HQ simultaneously received a coded air raid alert.5 Kure Naval Arsenal was on the ball, immediately setting off the Kure City sirens and calling in the report to NHK Hiroshima.
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